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DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 

8 CFR Part 274a 

[ICE 2377-06; DHS Docket No. ICEB-2006-0004] 

RIN 1653-AA50 

Safe-Harbor Procedures for Employers Who Receive a No-Match Letter 

AGENCY: U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, DHS. 

ACTION: Final rule. 

----------------------------------------- 

SUMMARY: U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement is amending the regulations relating to the 
unlawful hiring or continued employment of unauthorized aliens. The amended regulation describes 
the legal obligations of an employer, under current immigration law, when the employer receives a no-
match letter from the Social Security Administration or receives a letter regarding employment 
verification forms from the Department of Homeland Security. It also describes ``safe-harbor'' 
procedures that the employer can follow in response to such a letter and thereby be certain that the 
Department of Homeland Security will not use the letter as any part of an allegation that the employer 
had constructive knowledge that the employee referred to in the letter was an alien not authorized to 
work in the United States. The final rule adds two more examples to the current regulation's definition 



of ``knowing'' to illustrate situations that may lead to a finding that an employer had such 
constructive knowledge. These additional examples involve an employer's failure to take reasonable 
steps in response to either of two events: The employer receives a written notice from the Social 
Security Administration (such as an ``Employer Correction Request'' commonly known as an employer 
``no match letter'') that the combination of name and Social Security account number submitted to 
the Social Security Administration for an employee does not match agency records; or the employer 
receives written notice from the Department of Homeland Security that the immigration status or 
employment-authorization documentation presented or referenced by the employee in completing 
Form I-9 was not assigned to the employee according to Department of Homeland Security records. 
(Form I-9 is retained by the employer and made available to DHS investigators on request, such as 
during an audit.) The rule also states that DHS will continue to review the totality of relevant 
circumstances in determining if an employer had constructive knowledge that an employee was an 
unauthorized alien in a situation described in any of the regulation's examples. The ``safe-harbor'' 
procedures include attempting to resolve the no-match and, if it cannot be resolved within a certain 
period of time, verifying again the employee's identity and employment authorization through a 
specified process. 

DATES: This rule is effective September 14, 2007. 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Ron Shelkey, Office of Investigations, Worksite Enforcement 
Unit, U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, Department of Homeland Security, 425 I Street, 
NW., Room 1000; division 3, Washington, DC 20536. Telephone: (202) 514-2844 (not a toll-free 
number). 
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Part 274a--Control of employment of Aliens 

I. Background 

A. History of the Rulemaking 

The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) published a proposed rule in the Federal Register on 
June 14, 2006, that would amend the regulations relating to the unlawful hiring or continued 
employment of unauthorized aliens. 71 FR 34,281 (proposed Jun. 14, 2006). A sixty-day public 
comment period ended on August 14, 2006. 

A number of commenters, in comments and separate communications, requested that DHS extend 
the comment period beyond the normal sixty- day period established in the proposed rule. After careful 
consideration of the requests, DHS believes that the sixty-day comment period was reasonable and 
sufficient for the public to review the proposed rule and provide any comments. Accordingly, DHS has 
declined to extend the comment period. 

DHS received approximately 5,000 comments in response to the proposed rule from a variety of 
sources, including labor unions, not- for-profit advocacy organizations, industry trade groups, private 
attorneys, businesses, and other interested organizations and individuals. The comments varied 
considerably; some commenters strongly supported the rule as proposed, while others were critical of 
the proposed rule and suggested changes. 

A number of comments had no bearing on the proposed rule or criticized the rule for not addressing 
other immigration-law issues. Comments seeking changes in United States statutory laws, changes in 
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regulations or forms unrelated to or not addressed by the proposed rule, changes in procedures of 
agencies other than DHS, or resolution of other issues were not within the scope of the rulemaking or 
the authority of DHS, and are not addressed in this final rule. 

The comments frequently repeated specific issues (including specific text). Approximately 4,800 
comments in several mass mailings were received. Several organizations also submitted identical or 
nearly identical comments. 

At the request of a broad-based coalition of national business and trade associations, DHS met with 
representatives of the organization and its constituent organizations on June 20, 2006. A summary of 
that meeting including a list of attendees has been placed on the docket for this rulemaking. 

Each comment received was reviewed and considered in the preparation of this final rule. This final 
rule addresses the comments by issue rather than by referring to specific commenters or comments. 
All of the comments received electronically or on paper may be reviewed at the United States 
Government's electronic docket system, http://www.regulations.gov, under docket number ICEB-
2006-0004. 



B. The Issue Presented 

Employers annually send the Social Security Administration (SSA) millions of earnings reports (W-2 
Forms) in which the combination of employee name and social security number (SSN) does not match 
SSA records. In some of these cases, SSA sends a letter, such as an ``Employer Correction Request'', 
that informs the employer of the mismatch. The letter is commonly referred to as an employer ``no-
match letter.'' There can be many causes for a no-match, including clerical error and name changes. 
One potential cause may be the submission of information for an alien who is not authorized to work 
in the United States and who may be using a false SSN or a SSN assigned to someone else. Such a 
letter may be one indicator to an employer that one of its employees may be an unauthorized alien. 

U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) sends a similar letter (currently called a ``Notice of 
Suspect Documents'') after it has inspected an employer's Employment Eligibility Verification forms 
(Forms I-9) during an investigation audit and after unsuccessfully attempting to confirm, in agency 
records, that an immigration status document or employment authorization document presented or 
referenced by the employee in completing the Form I-9 was assigned to that person. (After a Form I-9 
is completed by an employer and employee, it is retained by the employer and made available to DHS 
investigators on request, such as during an audit.) 

This regulation describes an employer's current obligations under immigration laws, and its options for 
avoiding liability, after receiving such a letter from either SSA or DHS. The regulation specifies step by 
step actions that can be taken by the employer that will be considered by DHS to be a reasonable 
response to receiving a no-match letter--a response that will eliminate the possibility that the no-match 
letter can be used as any part of an allegation that an employer had constructive knowledge that it 
was employing an alien not authorized to work in the United States, in violation of section 274A(a)(2) 
of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2) . This provision of the INA states: 

It is unlawful for a person or other entity, after hiring an alien for employment in accordance with 
paragraph (1), to continue to employ the alien in the United States knowing the alien is (or has 
become) an unauthorized alien with respect to such employment. [Emphasis added.] 

Both regulation and case law support the view that an employer can be in violation of section 
274A(a)(2), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2) by having constructive rather than actual knowledge that an 
employee is unauthorized to work. A definition of ``knowing'' first appeared in the regulations on June 
25, 1990 at 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1). See 55 FR 25,928. That definition stated: 

The term ``knowing'' includes not only actual knowledge but also knowledge which may fairly be 
inferred through notice of certain facts and circumstances which would lead a person, through the 
exercise of reasonable care, to know about a certain condition. 

As noted in the preamble to the original regulation, that definition, which is essentially the same as the 
definition adopted in this rule, is consistent with the Ninth Circuit's holding in Mester Mfg. Co. v. INS, 
879 F.2d 561, 567 (9th Cir. 1989) (holding that when an employer who received information that 
some employees were suspected of having presented a false document to show work authorization, 
such employer had constructive knowledge of their unauthorized status when the employer failed to 
make any inquiries or take appropriate corrective action). The court cited its previous opinion 
explaining ``deliberate failure to investigate suspicious circumstances imputes knowledge.'' Id. at 567 
(citing United States v. Jewell, 532 F.2d 697 (9th Cir. 1976) (en banc)). See also New El Rey Sausage 
Co. v. INS, 925 F.2d 1153, 1158 (9th Cir. 1991). 

The preceding regulatory language also begins the current regulatory definition of ``knowing,'' which 
is still at 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1). In the current definition, additional language follows this passage, 
describing situations that may involve constructive knowledge by the employer that an employee is not 
authorized to work in the United States. This language was added on August 23, 1991. See 56 FR 
41,767. The current definition contains an additional, concluding paragraph, which specifically 



precludes use of foreign appearance or accent to infer that an employee may be unlawful, and to the 
documents that may be requested by an employer as part of the verification system that must be used 
at the time of hiring, as required by INA section 274A(a)(1)(B), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(1)(B). This paragraph 
will be described in greater detail below. The verification system referenced in this paragraph is 
described in INA section 274A(b), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(b). 

C. Final Rule 

The final rule amends the definition of ``knowing'' in 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1), in the portion relating to 
``constructive knowledge.'' First, it adds two more examples to the existing examples of information 
available to an employer indicating that an employee could be an alien not authorized to work in the 
United States. It also explicitly states the employer's obligations under current law after receiving a no-
match letter or the other information identified in 8 CFR 274a.1. If the employer fails to take 
reasonable steps after receiving such information, and if the employee is in fact not authorized to 
work in the United States, the employer may be found to have had constructive knowledge of that fact. 
The final rule also states explicitly another implication of the employer's obligation under current law--
whether an employer would be found to have constructive knowledge in particular cases of the kind 
described in each of the examples (the ones in the current regulation and in the new regulation) 
depends on the ``totality of relevant circumstances'' present in the particular case. This standard 
applies in all cases. 

The additional examples are: 

(1) Written notice to an employer from SSA, e.g. an ``Employer Correction Request,'' that the 
combination of name and SSN submitted for an employee does not match SSA records; and 
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(2) Written notice from DHS that the immigration status document, or employment authorization 
document, presented or referenced by the employee in completing Form I-9 was assigned to another 
person, or that there is no agency record that the document was assigned to anyone. 

The regulation also describes more specifically the steps that an employer might take after receiving a 
no-match letter, steps that DHS considers reasonable. By taking these steps in a timely fashion, an 
employer would avoid the risk that the no-match letter would be used as any part of an allegation that 
the employer had constructive knowledge that the employee was not authorized to work in the United 
States. The steps that a reasonable employer may take include the following: 

(I) A reasonable employer checks its records promptly after receiving a no-match letter to determine 
whether the discrepancy results from a typographical, transcription, or similar clerical error in the 
employer's records, or in its communication to the SSA or DHS. If there is such an error, the employer 
corrects its records, informs the relevant agencies; verifies that the name and number, as corrected, 
match agency records--in other words, verifies with the relevant agency that the information in the 
employer's files matches the agency's records; and makes a record of the manner, date, and time of 
the verification. ICE would consider a reasonable employer to have acted promptly if the employer took 
such steps within thirty days of receipt of the no-match letter. 

(II) If such actions do not resolve the discrepancy, a reasonable employer would promptly request that 
the employee confirm that the employer's records are correct. If they are not correct, the employer 
would take the actions needed to correct them, inform the relevant agencies (in accordance with the 
letter's instructions, if any), and verify the corrected records with the relevant agency. If the records 
are correct according to the employee, the reasonable employer would ask the employee to pursue 
the matter personally with the relevant agency, such as by visiting a local SSA office, bringing original 
documents or certified copies required by SSA, which might include documents that prove age, 
identity, citizenship or alien status, and other relevant documents, such as proof of a name change, or 



by mailing these documents or certified copies to the SSA office, if permitted by SSA. ICE would 
consider a reasonable employer to have acted promptly if the employer took such steps within thirty 
days of receipt of the no- match letter. The regulation provides that a discrepancy will be considered 
resolved only if the employer verifies with SSA or DHS, as the case may be, that the employee's name 
matches in SSA's records the number assigned to that name, or, with respect to DHS letters, verifies 
the authorization with DHS that DHS records indicate that the immigration status document or 
employment authorization document was assigned to the employee. In the case of a number from 
SSA, the valid number may be the number that was the subject of the no-match letter or a different 
number, for example a new number resulting from the employee's contacting SSA to resolve the 
discrepancy. Employers may verify a SSN with SSA by telephoning toll-free 1-800-772-6270, weekdays 
from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. EST. See http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnvadditional.htm. For information on 
SSA's online verification procedure, see http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnv.htm. Employers should 
make a record of the manner, date, and time of any such verification, as SSA may not provide any 
documentation. 

(III) The regulation also describes a verification procedure that the employer may follow if the 
discrepancy is not resolved within ninety days of receipt of the no-match letter. This procedure would 
verify (or fail to verify) the employee's identity and work authorization. If the described procedure is 
completed, and the employee is verified, then even if the employee is in fact not authorized to work in 
the United States, the employer will not be considered to have constructive knowledge of that fact 
based on receipt of the no-match letter. This final rule, however, will not provide a safe harbor for 
employers that for some other reason have actual or constructive knowledge that they are employing 
an alien not authorized to work in the United States. 

If the discrepancy referred to in the no-match letter is not resolved, and if the employee's identity and 
work authorization cannot be verified using a reasonable verification procedure, such as that 
described in this regulation, then the employer must choose between: 

(1) Taking action to terminate the employee, or 

(2) Facing the risk that DHS may find that the employer had constructive knowledge that the employee 
was an unauthorized alien and therefore, by continuing to employ the alien, violated INA section 
274A(a)(2), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2). 

The procedure to verify the employee's identity and work authorization described in the rule involves 
the employer's and employee's completing a new Form I-9, Employment Eligibility Verification Form, 
using the same procedures as if the employee were newly hired, as described in 8 CFR 274a.2, with 
certain restrictions. The regulation identifies these restrictions: 

(1) Under the regulation, both Section 1 (``Employee Information and Verification'') and Section 2 
(``Employer Review and Verification'') would need to be completed within ninety-three days of receipt 
of the no-match letter. Therefore, if an employer and employee tried to resolve the discrepancy 
described in the no-match letter for the full ninety days provided for in the regulation, they have an 
additional three days to complete a new Form I-9. Under current regulations, three days are provided 
for the completion of the form after a new hire. 8 CFR 274a.2(b)(1)(ii). 

(2) No document containing the SSN or alien number that is the subject of the no-match letter, and no 
receipt for an application for a replacement of such a document, may be used to establish 
employment authorization or identity or both. 

(3) No document without a photograph may be used to establish identity (or both identity and 
employment authorization). (This is consistent with the documentary requirements of the United 
States Citizenship and Immigration Services' Electronic Employment Verification System (EEVS) 
(formerly called the ``Basic Pilot Program''). See http://uscis.gov/graphics/services/SAVE.htm.) 

http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnvadditional.htm
http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnv.htm
http://uscis.gov/graphics/services/SAVE.htm


Employers should apply these procedures uniformly to all of their employees having unresolved no-
match indicators. If they do not do so, they may violate applicable anti-discrimination laws. The 
regulation also amends the last paragraph of the current definition of ``knowing.'' The existing 
regulations provide, in relevant part, that-- 

Nothing in this definition should be interpreted as permitting an employer to request more or different 
documents than are required under section 274[A](b) of the Act or to refuse to honor documents 
tendered that on their face reasonably appear to be genuine and to relate to the individual. 

The final rule clarifies that this language applies to employers that receive no-match letters, but that 
employers who follow the safe harbor procedures set forth in this rule uniformly and without regard to 
perceived national origin or citizenship status as required by the provisions of 
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274B(a)(6) of the INA will not be found to have engaged in unlawful discrimination. This clarification is 
accomplished by adding the following language after ``individual'': 

Except a document about which the employer has received written notice described in paragraph 
(l)(1)(iii) of this section and with respect to which the employer has received no verification as 
described in paragraphs (l)(2)(i)(C) or (l)(2)(ii)(B) of this section.  

Alternative documents that show work authorization are specified in 8 CFR 274a.2(b)(1)(v). Examples 
are a United States passport (unexpired or expired), a United States birth certificate, or any of several 
documents issued to lawful permanent resident aliens or to nonimmigrants with work authorization. 

There may be other procedures a particular employer could follow in response to a no-match letter, 
procedures that would be considered reasonable by DHS and inconsistent with a finding that the 
employer had constructive knowledge that the employee was an unauthorized alien. But such a 
finding would depend on the totality of relevant circumstances. An employer that followed a procedure 
other than the ``safe-harbor'' procedures described in the regulation would face the risk that DHS 
may not agree. 

It is important that employers understand that the proposed regulation describes the meaning of 
constructive knowledge and specifies ``safe-harbor'' procedures that employers could follow to avoid 
the risk of being found to have constructive knowledge that an employee is not authorized to work in 
the United States based on receipt of a no-match letter. The regulation would not preclude DHS from 
finding that an employer had actual knowledge that an employee was an unauthorized alien. An 
employer with actual knowledge that one of its employees is an unauthorized alien could not avoid 
liability by following the procedures described in the proposed regulation. The burden of proving actual 
knowledge would, however, be on the government. Further, DHS may find that the employer had 
constructive notice from other sources. Finally, it is important that employers understand that the 
resolution of discrepancies referenced in a no- match letter, or other information that an employee's 
SSN presented to an employer matches the records for the employee held by the SSA, does not, in 
and of itself, demonstrate that the employee is authorized to work in the United States. For example, 
an alien not authorized to work in the United States may present a fraudulent name and matching 
fraudulent SSN, and this rule does not address such fraud. 

II. Comments and Responses 

A. Authority to Promulgate the Rule 

Several commenters suggested that DHS does not have the authority to adopt the proposed rule. 
Different commenters suggested that DHS was intruding on the authority of the SSA, the Department 



of Justice (DOJ), or the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). These comments seem to indicate a lack of 
understanding of the nature of the rule, DHS's role in employer sanctions, and the relationship of 
authority among the agencies. DOJ, the IRS, and SSA all were involved in the promulgation of the 
proposed rule. 

DHS has the authority to investigate and pursue sanctions against employers who knowingly employ or 
continue to employ unauthorized aliens or who do not properly verify employees' employment 
eligibility. Section 274A of the INA, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, requires all United States employers, agricultural 
associations, agricultural employers, farm labor contractors, or persons or other entities who recruit or 
refer persons for employment for a fee, to verify the employment eligibility and identity of all 
employees hired to work in the United States. To comply with the law, an employer, or a recruiter or 
referrer for a fee, must complete an Employment Eligibility Verification form (Form I-9) for all 
employees, including United States citizens. 8 CFR 274a.2. Forms I-9 are not routinely filed with any 
government agency. Employers are responsible for maintaining these records, which ICE may request 
from them. See 71 FR 34,510 (June 15, 2006). 

DHS may conduct investigations for violations of section 274A of the INA either on its own initiative or 
in response to third-party complaints that have a reasonable probability of validity. If DHS determines 
after investigation that an employer has violated section 274A of the INA by knowingly employing 
unauthorized aliens, DHS may issue and serve a Warning Notice or may commence administrative 
proceedings against the employer by issuing and serving a Notice of Intent to Fine (Form I-763). See 8 
CFR 274a.9(a)-(d). An employer who wishes to contest the fine may request a hearing before a DOJ 
administrative law judge. See 8 CFR 274a.9(e); 28 CFR part 68. 

DHS's authority to investigate and pursue sanctions against employers who knowingly employ or 
continue to employ unauthorized aliens necessarily includes the authority to decide not to pursue 
sanctions against employers who follow the DHS-recommended procedure. In essence, this final rule 
limits DHS's discretion to use an employer's receipt of a particular written notice from SSA or DHS as 
evidence of constructive knowledge for those employers who follow the DHS procedure. See, e.g., 
Lopez v. Davis, 531 U.S. 230, 240-41 (2001) (upholding categorical limitation of discretion through 
rulemaking). The rule does not affect the authority of the SSA to issue no-match letters, the authority 
of the IRS to impose and collect taxes, or the authority of DOJ to enforce the anti-discrimination 
provisions of the INA or adjudicate notices of intent to fine employers. 

DOJ also has an enforcement role in the context of employer sanctions. In addition to adjudicating 
Notices of Intent to Fine, DOJ-- through its Office of Special Counsel for Immigration-Related Unfair 
Employment Practices--is responsible for enforcing the anti- discrimination provisions of section 274B 
of the INA, 8 U.S.C. 1324b. See 28 CFR part 44. While charges of unfair immigration-related 
employment practices may be filed by any DHS officer, they are primarily brought by individuals who 
believe that they are victims of discriminatory practices. See 28 CFR 44.300. Although individuals 
generally bring charges on their own behalf, DOJ and DHS may nevertheless file such charges. 

SSA, by contrast, does not have an immigration enforcement role. Instead, SSA collects employee 
earnings reports from employers through IRS Wage and Tax Statements (Forms W-2) in order to 
properly administer Social Security benefits. See 26 CFR 31.6051-2(a). SSA receives over 250 million 
earnings reports from employers each year. The vast majority of these reports are successfully 
matched with individual earnings records, which are then used to calculate future Social Security 
benefits, such as retirement, disability, and survivors' benefits. Every year, however, the SSA is unable 
to post some wage reports to individual earnings records because some employees' reported 
combinations of names and SSNs do not match SSA records. As mentioned earlier, there are many 
causes for such a no-match, including clerical error and name change. One cause is the submission of 
information for an alien who is not authorized to work in the United States and is using a false SSN or 
an SSN assigned to someone else. For example, in 2002 the SSA was unable to match almost 9 
million wage reports, representing $56 billion in earnings. At 
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DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY 
8 CFR Part 274a 
[ICE 2377-06; DHS Docket No. ICEB-2006-0004] 
RIN 1653-AA50 
Safe-Harbor Procedures for Employers Who Receive a No-Match Letter 
AGENCY: U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, DHS. 
ACTION: Final rule. 
----------------------------------------- 
SUMMARY: U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement is amending the regulations relating to the 
unlawful hiring or continued employment of unauthorized aliens. The amended regulation describes 
the legal obligations of an employer, under current immigration law, when the employer receives a no-
match letter from the Social Security Administration or receives a letter regarding employment 
verification forms from the Department of Homeland Security. It also describes ``safe-harbor'' 
procedures that the employer can follow in response to such a letter and thereby be certain that the 
Department of Homeland Security will not use the letter as any part of an allegation that the employer 
had constructive knowledge that the employee referred to in the letter was an alien not authorized to 
work in the United States. The final rule adds two more examples to the current regulation's definition 
of ``knowing'' to illustrate situations that may lead to a finding that an employer had such 
constructive knowledge. These additional examples involve an employer's failure to take reasonable 
steps in response to either of two events: The employer receives a written notice from the Social 
Security Administration (such as an ``Employer Correction Request'' commonly known as an employer 
``no match letter'') that the combination of name and Social Security account number submitted to 
the Social Security Administration for an employee does not match agency records; or the employer 
receives written notice from the Department of Homeland Security that the immigration status or 
employment-authorization documentation presented or referenced by the employee in completing 
Form I-9 was not assigned to the employee according to Department of Homeland Security records. 
(Form I-9 is retained by the employer and made available to DHS investigators on request, such as 
during an audit.) The rule also states that DHS will continue to review the totality of relevant 
circumstances in determining if an employer had constructive knowledge that an employee was an 
unauthorized alien in a situation described in any of the regulation's examples. The ``safe-harbor'' 
procedures include attempting to resolve the no-match and, if it cannot be resolved within a certain 
period of time, verifying again the employee's identity and employment authorization through a 
specified process. 
DATES: This rule is effective September 14, 2007. 
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Part 274a--Control of employment of Aliens 
 
I. Background 
 
A. History of the Rulemaking 
 
The Department of Homeland Security (DHS) published a proposed rule in the Federal Register on 
June 14, 2006, that would amend the regulations relating to the unlawful hiring or continued 
employment of unauthorized aliens. 71 FR 34,281 (proposed Jun. 14, 2006). A sixty-day public 
comment period ended on August 14, 2006. 
A number of commenters, in comments and separate communications, requested that DHS extend 
the comment period beyond the normal sixty- day period established in the proposed rule. After careful 
consideration of the requests, DHS believes that the sixty-day comment period was reasonable and 
sufficient for the public to review the proposed rule and provide any comments. Accordingly, DHS has 
declined to extend the comment period. 
 



DHS received approximately 5,000 comments in response to the proposed rule from a variety of 
sources, including labor unions, not- for-profit advocacy organizations, industry trade groups, private 
attorneys, businesses, and other interested organizations and individuals. The comments varied 
considerably; some commenters strongly supported the rule as proposed, while others were critical of 
the proposed rule and suggested changes. 
 
A number of comments had no bearing on the proposed rule or criticized the rule for not addressing 
other immigration-law issues. Comments seeking changes in United States statutory laws, changes in 
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regulations or forms unrelated to or not addressed by the proposed rule, changes in procedures of 
agencies other than DHS, or resolution of other issues were not within the scope of the rulemaking or 
the authority of DHS, and are not addressed in this final rule. 
 
The comments frequently repeated specific issues (including specific text). Approximately 4,800 
comments in several mass mailings were received. Several organizations also submitted identical or 
nearly identical comments. 
 
At the request of a broad-based coalition of national business and trade associations, DHS met with 
representatives of the organization and its constituent organizations on June 20, 2006. A summary of 
that meeting including a list of attendees has been placed on the docket for this rulemaking. 
Each comment received was reviewed and considered in the preparation of this final rule. This final 
rule addresses the comments by issue rather than by referring to specific commenters or comments. 
All of the comments received electronically or on paper may be reviewed at the United States 
Government's electronic docket system, http://www.regulations.gov, under docket number ICEB-
2006-0004. 
 
B. The Issue Presented 
 
Employers annually send the Social Security Administration (SSA) millions of earnings reports (W-2 
Forms) in which the combination of employee name and social security number (SSN) does not match 
SSA records. In some of these cases, SSA sends a letter, such as an ``Employer Correction Request'', 
that informs the employer of the mismatch. The letter is commonly referred to as an employer ``no-
match letter.'' There can be many causes for a no-match, including clerical error and name changes. 
One potential cause may be the submission of information for an alien who is not authorized to work 
in the United States and who may be using a false SSN or a SSN assigned to someone else. Such a 
letter may be one indicator to an employer that one of its employees may be an unauthorized alien. 
U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement (ICE) sends a similar letter (currently called a ``Notice of 
Suspect Documents'') after it has inspected an employer's Employment Eligibility Verification forms 
(Forms I-9) during an investigation audit and after unsuccessfully attempting to confirm, in agency 
records, that an immigration status document or employment authorization document presented or 
referenced by the employee in completing the Form I-9 was assigned to that person. (After a Form I-9 
is completed by an employer and employee, it is retained by the employer and made available to DHS 
investigators on request, such as during an audit.) 
 
This regulation describes an employer's current obligations under immigration laws, and its options for 
avoiding liability, after receiving such a letter from either SSA or DHS. The regulation specifies step by 
step actions that can be taken by the employer that will be considered by DHS to be a reasonable 
response to receiving a no-match letter--a response that will eliminate the possibility that the no-match 
letter can be used as any part of an allegation that an employer had constructive knowledge that it 
was employing an alien not authorized to work in the United States, in violation of section 274A(a)(2) 
of the Immigration and Nationality Act (INA), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2) . This provision of the INA states: 
It is unlawful for a person or other entity, after hiring an alien for employment in accordance with 
paragraph (1), to continue to employ the alien in the United States knowing the alien is (or has 
become) an unauthorized alien with respect to such employment. [Emphasis added.] 
Both regulation and case law support the view that an employer can be in violation of section 
274A(a)(2), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2) by having constructive rather than actual knowledge that an 



employee is unauthorized to work. A definition of ``knowing'' first appeared in the regulations on June 
25, 1990 at 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1). See 55 FR 25,928. That definition stated: 
 
The term ``knowing'' includes not only actual knowledge but also knowledge which may fairly be 
inferred through notice of certain facts and circumstances which would lead a person, through the 
exercise of reasonable care, to know about a certain condition. 
As noted in the preamble to the original regulation, that definition, which is essentially the same as the 
definition adopted in this rule, is consistent with the Ninth Circuit's holding in Mester Mfg. Co. v. INS, 
879 F.2d 561, 567 (9th Cir. 1989) (holding that when an employer who received information that 
some employees were suspected of having presented a false document to show work authorization, 
such employer had constructive knowledge of their unauthorized status when the employer failed to 
make any inquiries or take appropriate corrective action). The court cited its previous opinion 
explaining ``deliberate failure to investigate suspicious circumstances imputes knowledge.'' Id. at 567 
(citing United States v. Jewell, 532 F.2d 697 (9th Cir. 1976) (en banc)). See also New El Rey Sausage 
Co. v. INS, 925 F.2d 1153, 1158 (9th Cir. 1991). 
 
The preceding regulatory language also begins the current regulatory definition of ``knowing,'' which 
is still at 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1). In the current definition, additional language follows this passage, 
describing situations that may involve constructive knowledge by the employer that an employee is not 
authorized to work in the United States. This language was added on August 23, 1991. See 56 FR 
41,767. The current definition contains an additional, concluding paragraph, which specifically 
precludes use of foreign appearance or accent to infer that an employee may be unlawful, and to the 
documents that may be requested by an employer as part of the verification system that must be used 
at the time of hiring, as required by INA section 274A(a)(1)(B), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(1)(B). This paragraph 
will be described in greater detail below. The verification system referenced in this paragraph is 
described in INA section 274A(b), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(b). 
C. Final Rule 
 
The final rule amends the definition of ``knowing'' in 8 CFR 274a.1(l)(1), in the portion relating to 
``constructive knowledge.'' First, it adds two more examples to the existing examples of information 
available to an employer indicating that an employee could be an alien not authorized to work in the 
United States. It also explicitly states the employer's obligations under current law after receiving a no-
match letter or the other information identified in 8 CFR 274a.1. If the employer fails to take 
reasonable steps after receiving such information, and if the employee is in fact not authorized to 
work in the United States, the employer may be found to have had constructive knowledge of that fact.  
 
The final rule also states explicitly another implication of the employer's obligation under current law--
whether an employer would be found to have constructive knowledge in particular cases of the kind 
described in each of the examples (the ones in the current regulation and in the new regulation) 
depends on the ``totality of relevant circumstances'' present in the particular case. This standard 
applies in all cases. 
 
The additional examples are: 
(1) Written notice to an employer from SSA, e.g. an ``Employer Correction Request,'' that the 
combination of name and SSN submitted for an employee does not match SSA records; and 
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(2) Written notice from DHS that the immigration status document, or employment authorization 
document, presented or referenced by the employee in completing Form I-9 was assigned to another 
person, or that there is no agency record that the document was assigned to anyone. 
The regulation also describes more specifically the steps that an employer might take after receiving a 
no-match letter, steps that DHS considers reasonable. By taking these steps in a timely fashion, an 
employer would avoid the risk that the no-match letter would be used as any part of an allegation that 
the employer had constructive knowledge that the employee was not authorized to work in the United 
States. The steps that a reasonable employer may take include the following: 
 
(I) A reasonable employer checks its records promptly after receiving a no-match letter to determine 
whether the discrepancy results from a typographical, transcription, or similar clerical error in the 



employer's records, or in its communication to the SSA or DHS. If there is such an error, the employer 
corrects its records, informs the relevant agencies; verifies that the name and number, as corrected, 
match agency records--in other words, verifies with the relevant agency that the information in the 
employer's files matches the agency's records; and makes a record of the manner, date, and time of 
the verification. ICE would consider a reasonable employer to have acted promptly if the employer took 
such steps within thirty days of receipt of the no-match letter. 
 
(II) If such actions do not resolve the discrepancy, a reasonable employer would promptly request that 
the employee confirm that the employer's records are correct. If they are not correct, the employer 
would take the actions needed to correct them, inform the relevant agencies (in accordance with the 
letter's instructions, if any), and verify the corrected records with the relevant agency. If the records 
are correct according to the employee, the reasonable employer would ask the employee to pursue 
the matter personally with the relevant agency, such as by visiting a local SSA office, bringing original 
documents or certified copies required by SSA, which might include documents that prove age, 
identity, citizenship or alien status, and other relevant documents, such as proof of a name change, or 
by mailing these documents or certified copies to the SSA office, if permitted by SSA. ICE would 
consider a reasonable employer to have acted promptly if the employer took such steps within thirty 
days of receipt of the no- match letter. The regulation provides that a discrepancy will be considered 
resolved only if the employer verifies with SSA or DHS, as the case may be, that the employee's name 
matches in SSA's records the number assigned to that name, or, with respect to DHS letters, verifies 
the authorization with DHS that DHS records indicate that the immigration status document or 
employment authorization document was assigned to the employee. In the case of a number from 
SSA, the valid number may be the number that was the subject of the no-match letter or a different 
number, for example a new number resulting from the employee's contacting SSA to resolve the 
discrepancy. Employers may verify a SSN with SSA by telephoning toll-free 1-800-772-6270, weekdays 
from 7 a.m. to 7 p.m. EST. See http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnvadditional.htm. For information on 
SSA's online verification procedure, see http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnv.htm. Employers should 
make a record of the manner, date, and time of any such verification, as SSA may not provide any 
documentation. 
 
(III) The regulation also describes a verification procedure that the employer may follow if the 
discrepancy is not resolved within ninety days of receipt of the no-match letter. This procedure would 
verify (or fail to verify) the employee's identity and work authorization. If the described procedure is 
completed, and the employee is verified, then even if the employee is in fact not authorized to work in 
the United States, the employer will not be considered to have constructive knowledge of that fact 
based on receipt of the no-match letter. This final rule, however, will not provide a safe harbor for 
employers that for some other reason have actual or constructive knowledge that they are employing 
an alien not authorized to work in the United States. 
If the discrepancy referred to in the no-match letter is not resolved, and if the employee's identity and 
work authorization cannot be verified using a reasonable verification procedure, such as that 
described in this regulation, then the employer must choose between: 
(1) Taking action to terminate the employee, or 
(2) Facing the risk that DHS may find that the employer had constructive knowledge that the employee 
was an unauthorized alien and therefore, by continuing to employ the alien, violated INA section 
274A(a)(2), 8 U.S.C. 1324a(a)(2). 
The procedure to verify the employee's identity and work authorization described in the rule involves 
the employer's and employee's completing a new Form I-9, Employment Eligibility Verification Form, 
using the same procedures as if the employee were newly hired, as described in 8 CFR 274a.2, with 
certain restrictions. The regulation identifies these restrictions: 
(1) Under the regulation, both Section 1 (``Employee Information and Verification'') and Section 2 
(``Employer Review and Verification'') would need to be completed within ninety-three days of receipt 
of the no-match letter. Therefore, if an employer and employee tried to resolve the discrepancy 
described in the no-match letter for the full ninety days provided for in the regulation, they have an 
additional three days to complete a new Form I-9. Under current regulations, three days are provided 
for the completion of the form after a new hire. 8 CFR 274a.2(b)(1)(ii). 

http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnvadditional.htm
http://www.ssa.gov/employer/ssnv.htm


(2) No document containing the SSN or alien number that is the subject of the no-match letter, and no 
receipt for an application for a replacement of such a document, may be used to establish 
employment authorization or identity or both. 
(3) No document without a photograph may be used to establish identity (or both identity and 
employment authorization). (This is consistent with the documentary requirements of the United 
States Citizenship and Immigration Services' Electronic Employment Verification System (EEVS) 
(formerly called the ``Basic Pilot Program''). See http://uscis.gov/graphics/services/SAVE.htm.) 
 
Employers should apply these procedures uniformly to all of their employees having unresolved no-
match indicators. If they do not do so, they may violate applicable anti-discrimination laws. The 
regulation also amends the last paragraph of the current definition of ``knowing.'' The existing 
regulations provide, in relevant part, that-- 
Nothing in this definition should be interpreted as permitting an employer to request more or different 
documents than are required under section 274[A](b) of the Act or to refuse to honor documents 
tendered that on their face reasonably appear to be genuine and to relate to the individual. 
The final rule clarifies that this language applies to employers that receive no-match letters, but that 
employers who follow the safe harbor procedures set forth in this rule uniformly and without regard to 
perceived national origin or citizenship status as required by the provisions of 
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274B(a)(6) of the INA will not be found to have engaged in unlawful discrimination. This clarification is 
accomplished by adding the following language after ``individual'': 
Except a document about which the employer has received written notice described in paragraph 
(l)(1)(iii) of this section and with respect to which the employer has received no verification as 
described in paragraphs (l)(2)(i)(C) or (l)(2)(ii)(B) of this section.  
Alternative documents that show work authorization are specified in 8 CFR 274a.2(b)(1)(v). Examples 
are a United States passport (unexpired or expired), a United States birth certificate, or any of several 
documents issued to lawful permanent resident aliens or to nonimmigrants with work authorization. 
There may be other procedures a particular employer could follow in response to a no-match letter, 
procedures that would be considered reasonable by DHS and inconsistent with a finding that the 
employer had constructive knowledge that the employee was an unauthorized alien. But such a 
finding would depend on the totality of relevant circumstances. An employer that followed a procedure 
other than the ``safe-harbor'' procedures described in the regulation would face the risk that DHS 
may not agree. 
It is important that employers understand that the proposed regulation describes the meaning of 
constructive knowledge and specifies ``safe-harbor'' procedures that employers could follow to avoid 
the risk of being found to have constructive knowledge that an employee is not authorized to work in 
the United States based on receipt of a no-match letter. The regulation would not preclude DHS from 
finding that an employer had actual knowledge that an employee was an unauthorized alien. An 
employer with actual knowledge that one of its employees is an unauthorized alien could not avoid 
liability by following the procedures described in the proposed regulation. The burden of proving actual 
knowledge would, however, be on the government. Further, DHS may find that the employer had 
constructive notice from other sources. Finally, it is important that employers understand that the 
resolution of discrepancies referenced in a no- match letter, or other information that an employee's 
SSN presented to an employer matches the records for the employee held by the SSA, does not, in 
and of itself, demonstrate that the employee is authorized to work in the United States. For example, 
an alien not authorized to work in the United States may present a fraudulent name and matching 
fraudulent SSN, and this rule does not address such fraud. 
 
II. Comments and Responses 
 
A. Authority to Promulgate the Rule 
Several commenters suggested that DHS does not have the authority to adopt the proposed rule. 
Different commenters suggested that DHS was intruding on the authority of the SSA, the Department 
of Justice (DOJ), or the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). These comments seem to indicate a lack of 
understanding of the nature of the rule, DHS's role in employer sanctions, and the relationship of 
authority among the agencies. DOJ, the IRS, and SSA all were involved in the promulgation of the 
proposed rule. 
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DHS has the authority to investigate and pursue sanctions against employers who knowingly employ or 
continue to employ unauthorized aliens or who do not properly verify employees' employment 
eligibility. Section 274A of the INA, 8 U.S.C. 1324a, requires all United States employers, agricultural 
associations, agricultural employers, farm labor contractors, or persons or other entities who recruit or 
refer persons for employment for a fee, to verify the employment eligibility and identity of all 
employees hired to work in the United States. To comply with the law, an employer, or a recruiter or 
referrer for a fee, must complete an Employment Eligibility Verification form (Form I-9) for all 
employees, including United States citizens. 8 CFR 274a.2. Forms I-9 are not routinely filed with any 
government agency. Employers are responsible for maintaining these records, which ICE may request 
from them. See 71 FR 34,510 (June 15, 2006). 
DHS may conduct investigations for violations of section 274A of the INA either on its own initiative or 
in response to third-party complaints that have a reasonable probability of validity. If DHS determines 
after investigation that an employer has violated section 274A of the INA by knowingly employing 
unauthorized aliens, DHS may issue and serve a Warning Notice or may commence administrative 
proceedings against the employer by issuing and serving a Notice of Intent to Fine (Form I-763). See 8 
CFR 274a.9(a)-(d). An employer who wishes to contest the fine may request a hearing before a DOJ 
administrative law judge. See 8 CFR 274a.9(e); 28 CFR part 68. 
DHS's authority to investigate and pursue sanctions against employers who knowingly employ or 
continue to employ unauthorized aliens necessarily includes the authority to decide not to pursue 
sanctions against employers who follow the DHS-recommended procedure. In essence, this final rule 
limits DHS's discretion to use an employer's receipt of a particular written notice from SSA or DHS as 
evidence of constructive knowledge for those employers who follow the DHS procedure. See, e.g., 
Lopez v. Davis, 531 U.S. 230, 240-41 (2001) (upholding categorical limitation of discretion through 
rulemaking). The rule does not affect the authority of the SSA to issue no-match letters, the authority 
of the IRS to impose and collect taxes, or the authority of DOJ to enforce the anti-discrimination 
provisions of the INA or adjudicate notices of intent to fine employers. 
DOJ also has an enforcement role in the context of employer sanctions. In addition to adjudicating 
Notices of Intent to Fine, DOJ-- through its Office of Special Counsel for Immigration-Related Unfair 
Employment Practices--is responsible for enforcing the anti- discrimination provisions of section 274B 
of the INA, 8 U.S.C. 1324b. See 28 CFR part 44. While charges of unfair immigration-related 
employment practices may be filed by any DHS officer, they are primarily brought by individuals who 
believe that they are victims of discriminatory practices. See 28 CFR 44.300. Although individuals 
generally bring charges on their own behalf, DOJ and DHS may nevertheless file such charges. 
SSA, by contrast, does not have an immigration enforcement role. Instead, SSA collects employee 
earnings reports from employers through IRS Wage and Tax Statements (Forms W-2) in order to 
properly administer Social Security benefits. See 26 CFR 31.6051-2(a). SSA receives over 250 million 
earnings reports from employers each year. The vast majority of these reports are successfully 
matched with individual earnings records, which are then used to calculate future Social Security 
benefits, such as retirement, disability, and survivors' benefits. Every year, however, the SSA is unable 
to post some wage reports to individual earnings records because some employees' reported 
combinations of names and SSNs do not match SSA records. As mentioned earlier, there are many 
causes for such a no-match, including clerical error and name change. One cause is the submission of 
information for an alien who is not authorized to work in the United States and is using a false SSN or 
an SSN assigned to someone else. For example, in 2002 the SSA was unable to match almost 9 
million wage reports, representing $56 billion in earnings. At 
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